# Section 4. CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

### **CONTENTS**

Introduction

The Relation of Cigarette Smoking to Cardiovascular Risk

Factors in Cigarette Smoke Related to Cardiovascular Function

Nicotine

Carbon Monoxide

Other Components

Studies of the Impact of Lower "Tar" and Nicotine Cigarettes on Coronary Heart Disease

The Challenge of Future Research

Proposed Future Research

Descriptive Studies

Cohort Studies

Observational Studies

Clinical Trials

Case-Control Studies

Studies of Mechanisms

Animal Experimentation

Technical Resource Center

Behavioral Ramifications

Summary

References

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.--Coronary heart disease-mortality ratios

Table 2.--The effect of the cessation of cigarette smoking

on the incidence of coronary heart disease (CHD)-morbidity ratios in males

Table 3.--Filter cigarettes and risk of coronary heart disease in men

#### Introduction

The expectation that a lower "tar" and nicotine cigarette would be associated with less cardiovascular disease is based on two well-known epidemiological findings: (1) the strong dose-related association between cigarette use and coronary heart disease (CHD)--the largest component of cardiovascular disease; and (2) the evidence that if one quits smoking, the vascular consequences of smoking diminish. Table 1 shows that the more people smoke per day, the greater their risk of coronary heart disease. Table 2 summarizes several studies indicating that persons who quit have a lower risk of CHD.

These findings have been challenged (41) because the sample of smokers who have voluntarily quit may be biased through self-selection. Indeed, even prior to quitting, persons who stop smoking differ from those who continue smoking (15); however, their major cardiovascular risk factors do not differ (18).

A multivariate analysis of the impact of smoking on CHD that takes into account all the major possible confounders shows smoking's independent effect on CHD risk (31). In some studies (18), the quitters were more sick than those who continued to smoke, but none of the known major factors involved in CHD risk (disregarding cigarette smoking) explains the difference in CHD rates between smokers and nonsmokers. None of the factors distinguishing quitters from continu-

TABLE 1--Coronary heart disease-mortality ratios

Reference	Number of cigarettes smoked									
	NS	10	10-20	< 20	20	>20	20-40	> 40		
Hammond and	1.00	1.29	1.89				2.20	2.41		
Horn (23)										
Doyle et al. (14)	1.00			2.00	1.70	3.50				
Doll and Peto (13)	1.00			1.29	1.27	1.43				
Pooling Project	1.00	1.65			1.70	3.00				
(38) Kahn (29)	1.00	1.39	1.78				1.84	2.00		

NOTE: NS = Nonsmkers.

TABLE 2.--The effect of the cessation of cigarette smoking on the incidence of coronary heart disease (CHD)morbidity ratios in males

Reference	Never smoked	Former smokers	Smokers
Hammond and Garfinkel (21)	1.00	1.16	1.62
Jenkins et al. (27)	1.00	2.15	2.36
Shapiro et al. (42) Kannel et al. (30)	1.00	0.76	1.87
Kannel et al. (30)	1.00	0.80	1.70

ing smokers clarifies why the risk of cardiovascular disease declines rapidly following smoking cessation.

The effect of smoking on CHD risk fulfills many epidemiological criteria for a causal association: powerful, independent, dose related, and reversible. When the association of smoking with CHD is adjusted by the other major risk factors, the coefficients are strengthened, rather than weakened (19).

At present only a few of the several thousand substances found in cigarette smoke have been implicated in cardiovascular risk; others have yet to be fully assessed. In order to facilitate a complete analysis, a study would have to measure the impact of each substance in cigarette smoke and establish its independent contribution. However, testing large fractions of cigarette smoke for cardiovascular risk might allow the elimination of specific constituents.

Currently, one can define only part of the impact of smoking on cardiovascular risk. What factors isolated in cigarette smoke are known to have cardiovascular consequences? What, is already known of the cardiovascular impact of smoking cigarettes with some of these factors removed? In view of the rapidly changing variety of cigarettes found in the market, how can one keep pace with studying the cardiovascular impact of each new lower "tar," lower nicotine, lower carbon monoxide cigarette?

#### The Relation of Cigarette Smoking to Cardiovascular Risk

Many exhaustive reviews of this issue exist, and only a brief account of the essential findings is presented here. The chapter on cardiovascular disease in the 1979 Surgeon General's Report on Smoking and Health amply documents that cigarette smoking is a major, independent coronary heart disease risk factor in Western countries (46). There is substantial evidence from autopsies that more atherosclerosis is found in smokers than in nonsmokers (44). Hyaline thickening of arterioles in the heart is more prevalent in smokers (6). Experiments on atherosclerosis in animals, however, have not produced uniform results.

In those parts of the world where serum cholesterol levels are low, especially below 160 mg%, smoking is not as strong a risk factor as it is in the United States (33). After the age of 65, smoking poses less of a cardiovascular risk than it does in younger age groups (31). Study results differ on whether smoking is a risk factor in coronary heart disease following a myocardial infarction (46). The relationship of smoking to angina pectoris is uncertain (27, 31).

It is essential to emphasize these points because one could plan a study of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes in developing countries, with older subjects or with people who have already had a myocardial infarction or angina pectoris and find that the excess risk of CHD among smokers had disappeared. To establish that lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes cause less risk of CHD than higher yield cigarettes, there should be studies of randomly selected American men, 40 to 60 years of age, for the development of sudden death, first myocardial infarction, or peripheral vascular disease--endpoints with which cigarettes are associated at more than double the normal risk.

All the other factors associated with CHD risk should be measured simultaneously in a multivariate analysis so that any differences caused by quitter self-selection can be eliminated as the explanation of reduced risk. In this way, independent change in risk caused by the change in smoking behavior could be accurately assessed.

In addition to its effect on coronary heart disease, smoking increases the risk of arteriosclerotic peripheral vascular disease. Its impact on cerebrovascular disease is less uniform (46).

#### Factors in Cigarette Smoke Related to Cardiovascular Function

Most of the studies on cardiovascular endpoints associated with cigarette smoke have focused on nicotine and carbon monoxide rather than on "tar," which has not been demonstrated to have a major acute cardiovascular effect. Less is known about the effects of cadmium, zinc, chromium, carbon disulfide, carbon dioxide, tobacco antigens, hydrogen cyanide, nitrous oxide, or polonium-210, among other constituents of cigarette smoke.

#### **Nicotine**

Many studies have documented a dose effect of nicotine on cardiovascular function (2, 45). Acute studies in humans indicate a rise in heart rate, an elevation of systolic blood pressure, and cutaneous vasoconstriction. Cardiac output generally rises, but not always. Since stroke volume is generally not affected, or may fall, in patients with angina pectoris (2), the observed rise in cardiac output has been attributed to an increased heart rate.

Such changes have been attributed to a stimulation of sympathetic ganglia by nicotine. This stimulation results in a rise in catecholamines, which in turn produces variable degrees of positive chronotropic and inotropic cardiac actions. Other effects include generalized peripheral vasoconstriction and transient systemic (primarily systolic) hypertension (7).

Levels of free fatty acids rise in nicotine-treated subjects, possibly as another consequence of the catecholamine release (32). Whether free fatty acids affect cardiac function adversely, as some researchers have proposed (37), or aid in fatty deposition as others have suggested (10) has not yet been fully established.

Nicotine increases the diurnal secretion of cortisol (26). Plasma cortisol levels have been found to be elevated during myocardial

infarction, but the increase may be an effect rather than a cause of this condition. On the other hand, the cortisol rise has been implicated as a precursor of ventricular arrhythmias (36).

Nicotine-stimulated release of catecholamines has also been suggested as a cause of increased platelet stickiness and aggregation (24); this and other smoking-related hemostatic effects are potential mechanisms by which smoking may contribute to increased cardiovascular disease.

Although the evidence is meager, some of the acute effects of nicotine on cardiovascular function, such as elevation of heart rate and blood pressure, are dose related and apparently diminish in some lower-nicotine varieties of cigarettes (2, 45).

#### **Carbon Monoxide**

Carbon monoxide is inhaled in the form of a gas in cigarette smoke. Its affinity for hemoglobin is approximately 210 times greater than that of oxygen. The availability of oxygen to the myocardium is further decreased by the tighter binding of oxygen to hemoglobin in the presence of carboxyhemoglobin. Carbon monoxide also combines with myoglobin, impairing the availability of oxygen to the mitochondria. In addition, carbon monoxide can combine directly with cytochrome oxidase to slow the oxidation of reduced nicotinamide-adenine-dinucleotide (55).

Carbon monoxide has a direct impact on cardiac function in patients with angina pectoris, including a negative inotropic effect on the myocardium. Aronow (1) demonstrated an increase in left ventricular end-diastolic pressure, with a significant decrease in left ventricular dp/dt and stroke index. Anginal patients with increased carboxyhemoglobin levels also experience significantly shortened exercise time until the onset of angina pectoris (3). DeBias and co-workers (12) have also shown in monkeys that exposure to carboxyhemoglobin lowers the threshold for ventricular fibrillation.

Myocardial ultrastructural changes have been described in rabbits exposed to carbon monoxide. Among the changes are myofibrillar necrosis and mitochondrial degeneration (5).

Astrup (4) has proposed that carboxyhemoglobin increases hypoxia of vessel walls. Because this condition may increase the permeability to lipids, including cholesterol-laden lipoproteins, it may promote the process of atherosclerosis. It has been shown that exposure of humans to carbon monoxide increases the rate of disappearance of radio-iodinated serum albumin (43). Wald and Howard (49) have shown that the carboxyhemoglobin level is more closely related to the prevalence of coronary heart disease than is smoking history. They emphasize that smokers who are physically active enhance their mechanisms for releasing carboxyhemoglobin and have a much better CHD prognosis than do sedentary smokers.

#### Other Components

McMillan (35) has reviewed studies on a variety of other factors in cigarette smoke and has concluded that much more data are needed. He noted a possible association of cadmium with hypertension. Smoking generally results in an acute rise in blood pressure, but has not been proved to cause chronic hypertension. Whether tobacco antigens play a role in increased endothelial cell damage is conjectural. Finally, McMillan considered the hypothesis proposed by Benditt and Benditt (18) that atherosclerosis is really caused by monoclonal smooth muscle cellular proliferation. If so, one may be persuaded that "tar," which is mutagenic, is atherogenic after all.

# Studies of the Impact of Lower "Tar" and Nicotine Cigarettes on Coronary Heart Disease

Not all cigarettes that produce a lower yield of one substance necessarily provide a lower yield of other substances. Indeed, research suggests that cigarettes with unperforated filters ("unventilated"), which yield lower "tar" and nicotine levels than do nonfiltered cigarettes, may increase exposure to carbon monoxide (53) and lead to higher levels of carboxyhemoglobin (52). Cigarettes with perforated ("ventilated") filters may produce lower carbon monoxide yields (52).

People who smoke lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes do not generally smoke substantially more cigarettes per day than smokers of higher yield cigarettes (16, 40, 51); however, their intake of "tar," nicotine, and carbon monoxide is higher than would be predicted by data from machine-smoked cigarettes. This suggests that these cigarettes are smoked more intensively than higher yield cigarettes (40, 51).

There is evidence from four studies of the association between cardiovascular disease and the use of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes. Hammond et al. (22), in their prospective study of volunteers of the American Cancer Society, have shown reductions of 10 to 20 percent in observed coronary deaths among persons smoking lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes when compared with those who reported smoking similar numbers of regular cigarettes per day. Hawthorne and Fry (25), in three prospective surveys of over 18,000 persons in west-central Scotland, showed a slightly increased relative coronary mortality in persons who smoked filtered cigarettes compared with persons who smoked unfiltered cigarettes. Dean et al. (11), in a retrospective mortality study in northeast England published by the Tobacco Research Council, showed relative risks of about 0.6 for coronary heart disease and 0.4 for cerebrovascular disease in filter cigarette users versus smokers of unfiltered cigarettes. Unfortunately, smoking habits of cases and controls were obtained from different sources and at different times, confounding the study design. Recent

TABLE 3.--Filter cigarettes and risk of coronary heart disease in men

Reference	Plain	Filter	
Hawthorne and Fry (25)	1.00	1.04	
Hammond et al. (22)			
Low "tar" Period 1 period 2	1.00	0.93	
Low tar {period 2	1.00	0.82	
Medium "tar" { Period 1	1.00	0.91	
Period 2	1.00	1.03	
Dean et al. (11)	1.00	0.66	
Castelli et al. (9)			
< 55	1.00	1.02	
55+	1.00	0.85	

unpublished data from Framingham (9) have failed to show a lower CHD risk among smokers of filter cigarettes, and in younger men there was actually a slightly higher rate of coronary disease among smokers of filtered cigarettes (Table 3).

This study took into account the other major CHD risk factors (cholesterol, blood pressure, and age); the increased risk in filter smokers is independent of effects attributed to these other factors. Overall, use of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes has not produced a consistent decrease in risk for cardiovascular disease; indeed, in some studies a slight increase in risk has been seen. Additional studies will be needed to assess the actual impact of any changes in the composition of cigarettes on subsequent CHD rates. Terms like "lower vield" may describe only part of the change; other additives and the overall use of the cigarette might actually increase risk. Wald (54) has shown that, in the United Kingdom, while lung cancer mortality fell in men from 1956-60 to 1969-73, with the change to filter cigarettes, CHD mortality increased. The author wondered whether the decrease in "tar" accounted for the lower lung cancer death rates, and whether unchanged levels of carbon monoxide might have contributed to the observed continuing rise in CHD death rates.

#### The Challenge of Future Research

In the United States, virtually no filtered cigarettes were smoked before 1950; now 90 percent of the cigarettes sold are filtered. The sales-weighted average "tar" composition per cigarette has decreased from over 35 mg of "tar" per cigarette in the early 1950s to under 15 mg in 1979. Currently, nicotine has decreased from over 2.5 mg per cigarette to about 1.0 mg per cigarette. Ultra low nicotine and "tar" cigarettes are now increasingly available, with levels of under 1.0 mg "tar" and 0.1 mg nicotine. Unfortunately, the amount of carbon monoxide delivered by cigarettes has not been studied as intensively as the "tar" and nicotine levels, although a recent United Kingdom

survey of old and current cigarettes indicates that carbon monoxide yields have changed much less than "tar" or nicotine yields. This may be the case in the United States as well. Linking cigarette carbon monoxide yields to possible toxicity is further complicated by the fact that patterns of smoke inhalation for lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes may differ from patterns for higher "tar" and nicotine cigarettes (51).

A technique should be developed to monitor the effect of changes in cigarette composition, particularly in nicotine and carbon monoxide content, on cardiovascular risk.

#### **Proposed Future Research**

#### **Descriptive Studies**

Continued research into the changes in cigarette smoking is needed. Surveys such as the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), prospective epidemiological field studies, and prepaid hospital insurance group studies are needed to provide comprehensive information on cardiovascular disease caused by smoking. Such studies should include worldwide data surveillance.

#### **Cohort Studies**

#### Observational Studies

Observational studies are studies of large populations in which a variety of factors related to cardiovascular disease are measured and followed, permitting an independent analysis of variables such as a given cigarette brand.

There are now a number of studies that follow a given population over a period of time to assess prospectively the impact of smoking. Some of these are traditional single-town studies in which a random sample of a given population is followed over varying time intervals, often every 2 to 5 years. Examples of such studies are those in Framingham, Tecumseh, Puerto Rico, Evans County (Georgia), Honolulu, and Goteborg and Stockholm, Sweden, where whole populations or samples thereof are followed on a more or less continuous basis. In addition, there are worksite studies, such as the Albany civil servants, People's Gas Company of Chicago employees, Western Electric workers (Chicago), Minneapolis business executives, California longshoremen, and British doctors, which call for repeated observations. Ouestionnaire studies, such as the American Cancer Society's 25-State Study or the 9-State Study, the U.S. Veterans Study, the Canadian Veterans Study, the Swedish Study, the Japanese 29 Health Districts Study, and the Study of California Males, can observe as many as a million subjects.

In addition to measuring the risk for cardiovascular disease, most of these studies also assess other consequences of smoking. They allow, better than any other studies, the calculation of the independent effect of smoking.

The shortcoming of these prospective studies has been that the average turnaround time has been approximately 10 years. Occasionally, a 4-year interval produces enough data for a meaningful analysis, but with the rate of change in the composition of cigarettes, the information could be outdated by the time the data are collected and analyzed.

#### Clinical Trials

Several clinical trials of the effect of smoking intervention on coronary heart disease are in progress. Perhaps the most promising of these is the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT) (28), in which high-risk men were randomly assigned to a special-intervention group and a usual-care group. The study, now in its 6th year, avoids self-selection bias by contrasting the overall disease experience of the two randomly assigned groups. Unfortunately, the inferences that may be drawn about lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes per se (which is only a part of the intervention program) are somewhat limited and do involve self-selection. Another problem is that this study directs its intervention to serum cholesterol and blood pressure control as well as to smoking cessation. Nevertheless, long-term studies like the MRFIT are recommended because the followup of cohorts may provide findings that differ qualitatively from those available in strictly observational studies and because the measurement of other major risk factors permits the estimation of the independent effect of smoking behavior changes. All such clinical trials should incorporate the conviction of the medical and public health communities that current smokers ought to quit and that nonsmokers should not begin to smoke.

#### Case-Control Studies

Case-control studies have the advantage of relatively short turnaround times and usually are less expensive than other studies. Unfortunately, unless very carefully designed, they can suffer from a partial and therefore less accurate assessment of the disease under study. For example, in studying cigarettes, one must assess the death endpoints of coronary disease. The problem in studies of this kind is how to compile an objective smoking history of the deceased. Obtaining information from a spouse or close associate introduces a certain amount of error, but this error may be controlled somewhat by interviewing close associates of the members of the control group. In studies of nonfatal myocardial infarction, the survival of both the cases and the controls allows more precise measures of the variables under study.

Despite shortcomings, case-control studies represent the major means for assessment of the relative cardiovascular risk of varying cigarettes. Further, serial case-control studies, similarly designed, performed, and analyzed, could provide information on changes in risk over time. In such studies care must be taken to select appropriate controls, to treat cases and controls alike, to avoid hospital-based rosters, and to study well-defined and documented endpoints.

#### Studies of Mechanisms

In view of the difficulties involved in doing large population-based studies and the need to know more about the mechanisms whereby cigarettes cause damage, more studies are needed on the components in cigarettes that affect cardiovascular risk. It may be that nicotine and carbon monoxide are the chief toxic agents, but until more is learned of the other constituents, judgements are based on scanty information.

Perhaps the main reason to pursue the study of disease mechanisms is to shorten the turnaround time for assessing any new brand of cigarette; studies could be designed to measure particular constituents of the cigarette smoke and characteristics of the subject at risk.

With better noninvasive cardiovascular techniques, studies of how a particular cigarette affects cardiac function could be performed in greater depth. Such studies would provide better measurement of the biological effect of the cigarette smoke components in individual smokers. Measurement of expired carbon monoxide, serum carboxyhemoglobin, thiocyanate, and cotinine would help resolve not only differences in the composition of cigarettes, but also major differences in the ways individuals smoke (47, 48). These more precise measurements of smoke exposure and dosage of smoke constituents could be correlated with a host of biochemical and physiological parameters.

The number of biochemical factors found to be affected by smoking continues to grow. Lower HDL cholesterol levels are found in smokers than in nonsmokers, an effect that is associated with an increased CHD risk (17)

A variety of effects could be weighed to produce a multifactorial analysis of how cigarettes produce atherosclerosis, sudden death, and other cardiovascular problems.

Physiological studies using treadmill performance, scintillation scanning-including gated pool studies--and Holter monitoring could provide better clues to the action of cigarettes on cardiovascular function. If such alterations in function could be more certainly tied to later events, they might prove invaluable predictors of smoking-related risk for a given individual.

#### **Animal Experimentation**

Most of the animal models used in studies of the effects of cigarette smoke have been designed to test its carcinogenicity on the bronchial epithelium or the skin of small animals, usually rodents. A few models have been developed to examine the effects of inhalation on the respiratory and cardiovascular systems of rodents, dogs, or nonhuman primates (20). Very few animal studies have attempted to assess the effects of different cigarette smokes in inhalation studies of experimental atherosclerosis or on the styles of inhalation that may be intervening variables in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. It is feasible to induce nonhuman primates to inhale cigarette smoke (34). Such primates frequently develop many of the physiologic changes related to the atherosclerosis found in human smokers (39). The further utilization of such animal models would permit a comparison of the effects of proposed lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes with the effects of conventional higher yield cigarettes under controlled conditions. Subjects could be assigned randomly to different types of cigarettes to eliminate the self-selection bias.

The primates could be examined for effects of smoke from different cigarettes on response variables such as serum lipids and lipoproteins. At this time, the augmentation of experimental atherosclerosis by exposure to cigarette smoke has not yet been demonstrated; further development of an animal model must occur before definitive studies in atherogenesis will be practical.

#### **Technical Resource Center**

In addition to monitoring research evidence on the impact of smoking on health, further activities should focus on developing tools for the conduct of studies on the impact of smoking on health in several areas. A standard questionnaire on smoking should be refined for use by the various studies in the United States and in foreign countries.

In addition, techniques for measuring actual exposures to carbon monoxide, cotinine, nicotine, and many other substances could be evaluated to determine the most effective analytic techniques. Where debate continues on the merits of one test versus another, studies should be designed to resolve the issue. Control of test quality should be instituted and could be ascertained, even from widely disparate groups. Not only could a hierarchy of useful tests be provided, but a quality-control mechanism should be developed to ensure continued high performance.

Finally, frequent updated ratings of "tar," nicotine, and particularly carbon monoxide yields would permit others to conduct better studies of the impact of cigarette smoke components on cardiovascular functions.

#### **Behavioral Ramifications**

It is important to determine the effect of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes on cardiovascular disease risk reduction. A key unknown is whether efforts to persuade people to switch to lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes interfere with other efforts to persuade people not to begin smoking or to quit. Activities to provide a less hazardous cigarette should not interfere with efforts to eliminate cigarette smoking.

Finally, given the limitation in research funds, priorities for research must be drawn. The research proposals outlined above are of high priority. The combination of results from a variety of studies can provide a consensus on the impact of a given innovation in lower "tar" and nicotine cigarette composition. Ultimately, the effect of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes will be measured in terms of smoker morbidity and mortality.

#### **Summary**

- 1. Epidemiological studies show that the incidence of coronary heart disease (CHD) increases as the daily number of cigarettes smoked increases and that the incidence of CHD decreases among those who quit smoking. These dose-related effects suggest that lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes might be associated with lower risks of CHD. However, the overall changes in the composition of cigarettes that have occurred during the last 10 to 15 years have not produced a clearly demonstrated effect on cardiovascular disease, and some studies suggest that a decreased risk of CHD may not have occurred.
- 2. Of the several thousand substances found in cigarette smoke, only a few have been implicated in cardiovascular risk. A number of substances have not yet been adequately assessed. Further, the changes in smoke constituents that have resulted from changes in the cigarette product have not been documented.
- 3. Linking cigarette smoke yields to cardiovascular disease is complicated by the evidence that smokers of lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes may smoke more "intensively," although they may not smoke a substantially greater number of cigarettes daily than do smokers of higher "tar" and nicotine cigarettes. The net result could be to decrease the actual intake of "tar," nicotine, and carbon monoxide less than that expected on the basis of machine measurements.
- 4. Nicotine stimulates the sympathetic nervous system, producing a rise in catecholamines that in turn increases heart rate, elevates systolic blood pressure, constricts cutaneous blood vessels, and increases levels of free fatty acids. The nicotine-stimulated release of catecholamines has been suggested as the cause of

- increased platelet stickiness and aggregation, pointing to a potential role in coronary disease. There is some evidence that these physiological effects may be dose related and somewhat diminished with lower nicotine varieties of cigarettes.
- 5. Carbon monoxide has a negative inotropic effect on the myocardium of patients with angina pectoris. When combined with hemoglobin in the form of carboxyhemoglobin, carbon monoxide may increase the permeability of the blood vessel walls to lipids, thereby promoting atherosclerosis.
- 6. Cigarettes with unperforated filters yield lower "tar" and nicotine levels than unfiltered cigarettes, but they yield more carbon monoxide than do unfiltered cigarettes at the same "tar" yield. Carbon monoxide yields are lower in cigarettes with perforated filters, but as the composition of cigarettes has changed, carbon monoxide yields have decreased much less in proportion to the decrease in "tar" and nicotine yields.
- 7. In studies of patients with angina pectoris, increased carboxy-hemoglobin levels significantly shorten exercise time until the onset of angina pectoris.
- 8. Myocardial ultrastructural changes have been found in rabbits exposed to carbon monoxide.
- 9. Most cardiovascular studies have focused on nicotine and carbon monoxide rather than on "tar," which has not been shown to have a major acute role in cardiovascular disease. Even less is known about other constituents of cigarette smoke.
- 10. Not all cigarettes that produce a lower yield of one substance necessarily provide a lower yield of other substances.
- 11. Evidence on the association between CHD and filter cigarettes is somewhat conflicting. One major study showed a reduction of 10 to 20 percent in coronary deaths among persons smoking lower "tar" and nicotine cigarettes as compared with those who smoked higher yield cigarettes, but other surveys have shown a slightly increased risk of coronary mortality in people who smoked filter cigarettes relative to those who smoked nonfiltered cigarettes. Recent unpublished data from the Framingham Study do not show a lower CHD risk among smokers of filter cigarettes.

#### References

- (1) ARONOW, W.S. Carbon monoxide and cardiovascular disease. In: Wynder, E.L., Hoffmann, D., Gori, G.B. (Editors). Proceedings of the Third World Conference on Smoking and Health, New York, June 2-5, 1975. Volume I. Modifying the Risk for the Smoker U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76-1221, 1976, pp. 321-328.
- (2) ARONOW, W.S., DENDINGER, J., ROKAW, S.N. Heart rate and carbon monoxide level after smoking high-, low-, and non-nicotine cigarettes. A study in male patients with angina pectoris. Annals of Internal Medicine 74(5): 697-702, May 1971.
- (3) ARONOW, W.S., ROKAW, S.N. Carboxyhemoglobin caused by smoking nonnicotine cigarettes. Effects in angina pectoris. *Circulation* 44: 782-788, November 1971.
- (4) ASTRUP, P. Studies on carbon monoxide and nicotine. In: Wynder, E.L., Hoffmann, D., Gori, G.B. (Editors). Proceedings of the Third World Conference on Smoking and Health, New York, June 2-5, 1975. Volume I. Modifying the Risk for the Smoker. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76-1221, 1976, pp. 331-341.
- (5) ASTRUP, P., KJELDSEN, K. Model studies linking carbon monoxide and/or nicotine to arteriosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. *Preventive Medicine* 8(3): 295-302, May 1979.
- (6) AUERBACH, O., CARTER, H.W., GARFINKEL, L., HAMMOND, E.C. Cigarette smoking and coronary artery disease. A mauoscopic and microscopic study. Chest 70(6): 697-705, December 1976.
- (7) BALL, K., TURNER, R. Smoking and the heart. The basis for action. *Lancet* 2(7884): 822-826, October 5, 1974.
- (8) BENDITT, E.P., BENDITT, J.M. Evidence for a monoclonal origin of human atherosclerosis plaques. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United, States of America 70(6): 1753-1756, June 1973.
- (9) CASTELLI, W.P., GARRISON, R.J., DAWBER, T.R., MCNAMARA, P.M., FEINLEIB, M., KANNEL, W.B. The filter cigarette and coronary heart disease. *The Framingham Study*, in preparation.
- (10) CASTELLI, W.P., NICKERSON, R.J., NEWELL, J.M., RUTSTEIN, D.D. Serum NEFA following fat, carbohydrate and protein ingestion, and during fasting as related to intracellular lipid deposition. *Journal of Atherosclerosis Research* 6: 328-341, 1966.
- (11) DEAN, G., LEE, P.N., TODD, G.F., WILKEN, A.J. Report on A Second Retrospective Mortality Study in North-East England. Part I: Factors Related to Mortality from Lung Cancer, Bronchitis, Heart Disease and Stroke in Cleveland County, with Particular Emphasis on the Relative Risks Associated with Smoking Filter and Plain Cigarettes. London, Tobacco Research Council, Research Paper 14, 1977, 95 pp.
- (12) DEBIAS, D.A., BANERJEE, C.M., BIRKHEAD, N.C., GREENE, C.H., SCOTT, S.D., HARRER, W.V. Effects of carbon monoxide inhalation on ventricular fibrillation. Archives of Environmental Health 31(1): 42-46, January-February 1976
- (13) DOLL, R., PETO, R. Mortality in relation to smoking: 20 yesrs' observations on male British doctors. *British Medical Journal* 2(6051): 1525-1536, December 25, 1976.

- (14) DOYLE, J.T., DAWBER, T.R., KANNEL, W.B., KINCH, S.H., KAHN, H.A. The relationship of cigarette smoking to coronary heart disease. The second report of the combined experience of the Albany, New York, and Framingham, Massachusetts, studies. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 190(10): 886-890, December 7, 1964.
- (15) FRIEDMAN, G.D., SIEGELAUB, A.B., DALES, L.G., SELTZER, C.C. Characteristics predictive of coronary heart disease in ex-smokers before they stopped smoking: Comparison with persistent smokers and non-smokers. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 32(1/2): 175, 1979.
- (16) GARFINKEL, L. Changes in number of cigarettes smoked compared to changes in tar and nicotine content over a 13-year period. In: Gori, G.B., Bock, F.G. (Editors). Banbury Report 3--A Safe Cigarette? Cold Spring Harbor, New York, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1980, pp. 19-28.
- (17) GARRISON, R.J., KANNEL, W.B., FEINLEIB, M., CASTELLI, W.P., MCNA-MARA, P.M., PADGETT, S.J. Cigarette smoking and HDL cholesterol. The Framingham Offspring Study. *Atherosclerosis* 30(1): 17-25, May 1978.
- (18) GORDON, T., KANNEL, W.B., DAWBER, T.R., MCGEE, D. Changes associated with quitting cigarette smoking: The Framingham Study. *American Heart Journal* 90(3): 322-328, September 1975.
- (19) GORDON, T., SORLIE, P., KANNEL, W.B. Section 27. Coronary heart disease, atherothrombotic brain infarction, intermittent claudification—A multivariate analysis of some factors related to their incidence: Framingham Study, 16-year followup. In: Kannel, W.B., Gordon, T. (Editors), The Framingham Study. An Epidemiological Investigation of Cardiovascular Disease. Washington, D.C., U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, May 1971, 42 pp.
- (20) GORI, G.B. (Editor). Proceedings of the Tobacco Smoke Inhalation Workshop on Experimental Methods in Smoking and Health Research, Bethesda, Maryland, June 19-21, 1974. Proceedings of the Tobacco Smoke Inhalation Workshop on Experimental Methods in Smoking and Health Research. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 75-906, Bethesda, Maryland, 1975, 83 pp.
- (21) HAMMOND, E.C., GARFINKEL, L. Coronary heart disease, stroke, and aortic aneurysm. *Archives of Environmental Health* 19(2): 167-182, August 1969.
- (22) HAMMOND, E.C., GARFINKEL, L., SEIDMAN, H., LEW, E.A. "Tar" and nicotine content of cigarette smoke in relation to death rates. *Environmental Research* 12(3): 263-274, December 1976.
- (23) HAMMOND, E.C., HORN, D. Smoking and death rates-Report on forty-four months of follow-up of 187, 783 men. II. Death rates by cause. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 166(11): 1294-1308, March 15, 1958.
- (24) HAWKINS, R.I. Smoking, platelets and thrombosis. Nature 236(5348): 450-452 April 29, 1972
- (25) HAWTHORNE, V.M., FRY, J.S. Smoking and health. The association between smoking behaviour, total mortality, and cardiorespiratory disease in west central Scotland. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 32(4): 260-266, December 1978.
- (26) HILL, P. Nicotine: An etiological factor for coronary heart disesse. In: Wynder, E.L., Hoffmann, D., Gori, G.B. (Editors). Proceedings of the Third World Conference on Smoking and Health, New York, June 2-5, 1975. Volume I. Modifying the Risk for the Smoker. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76-1221, 1976, pp. 313-319.

- (27) JENKINS, C.D., ROSENMAN, R.H., ZYZANSKI, S.J. Cigarette smoking. Its relationship to coronary heart disease and related risk factors in the Western Collaborative Group Study. *Circulation* 38(6): 1146-1155, December 1968.
- (28) JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATION. Collaborating investigation: The multiple risk factor intervention trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 235: 825-828, 1976.
- (29) KAHN, HA. The Dorn Study of smoking and mortality among U.S. veterans: Report on 8½ years of observation. In: Haenszel, W. (Editor). Epidemiological Approaches to the Study of Cancer and Other Chronic Diseases. National Cancer Institute Monograph 19. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, January 1966, pp. 1-125.
- (30) KANNEL, W.B., ČASTELLI, W.P., MCNAMARA, P.M. Cigarette smoking and risk of coronary heart disease. Epidemiologic clues to pathogenesis. The Framingham Study. In: Haenszel, W. (Editor). Epidemiological Approaches to the Study of Cancer and Other Chronic Diseases. National Cancer Institute Monograph 19. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, January 1966, pp. 127-204.
- (31) KANNEL, W.B., GORDON, T. (Editors). Some characteristics related to the incidence of cardiovascular disease and death: 18 year follow-up. The Framingham Study: An Epidemiological Investigation of Cardiovascular Disease. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 74-599, February 1974.
- (32) KERSHBAUM, A., BELLET, S., DICKSTEIN, E.R., FEINBERG, L.J. Effect of cigarette smoking and nicotine on serum free fatty acids. Based on a study in the human subject and the experimental animal. *Circulation Research* 9(3): 631-638, May 1961.
- (33) LIFSIC, AM. Atherosclerosis in smokers. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 53(5/6): 631-638, 1976.
- (34) MCGILL, H.C., JR., ROGERS, W.R., WILBUR, R.L., JOHNSON, D.E. Cigarette smoking baboon model: Demonstration of feasibility. *Proceedings of the Society* for Experimental Biology and Medicine 157(4): 672-676, April 1978.
- (35) MCMILLAN, G.C. Evidence for components other than carbon monoxide and nicotine as etiological factors in cardiovascular disease. In: Wynder, E.L., Hoffmann, D., Gori, G.B. (Editors). Proceedings of the Third World Conference on Smoking and Health, New York, June 2-5, 1975. Volume I. Modifying the Risk for the Smoker. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76-1221, 1976, pp. 363-367.
- (36) MOSS, A.J., GOLDSTEIN, S., GREENE, W. Precursors of ventricular arrhythmias during early pre-hospital phase of acute myocardial infarction. *Cirulation* 11: 44, 1971.
- (37) OLIVER, M.F., YATES, P.A. Induction of ventricular arrhythmias by elevation of arterial free fatty acids in experimental myocardial infarction. *Cardiology* 56: 359-464, 1971/72.
- (38) POOLING PROJECT RESEARCH GROUP. Relationship of blood pressure, serum cholesterol, smoking habit, relative weight and ECG abnormalities to incidence of major coronary events: Final report of the Pooling Project. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 31(4): 201-306, April 1978.
- (39) ROGERS, W.R., BASS, R.L., III, JOHNSON, D.E., KRUSKI, A.W., MCMA-HAN, C.A., MONTIEL, M.M., MOTT, G.E., WILBUR, R.L., MCGILL, H.C., JR Atherosclerosis-related responses to cigarette smoking in the baboon. *Circulation* 61(6): 1188-1193, 1980.

- (40) RUSSELL, M.A.H., JARVIS, M., IYER, R., FEYERABEND, C. Relation of nicotine yield of cigarettea to blood nicotine concentration in smokers. *British Medical Journal* 280(6219): 972-976, 1980.
- (41) SELTZER, C.C. Smoking and coronary heart disease: What are we to believe? American Heart Journal 100: 275-280, September 1980.
- (42) SHAPIRO, S., WEINBLATT, E., FRANK, C.W., SAGER, R.V. Incidence of coronary heart disease in a population insured for medical care (HIP). Myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, and possible myocardial infarction. American Journal of Public Health 59(Supplement 6): 1-101, June 1969.
- (43) SIGGAARD-ANDERSEN, J., PETERSEN, F.B., HANSEN, T.I., MELLEM-GAARD, K. Plasma volume and vascular permeability during hypoxia and carbon monoxide exposure. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation* 22(Supplement 103): 39-48, 1968.
- (44) STRONG, J.P., RICHARDS, M.L. Cigarette smoking and atherosclerosis in autopsied men. *Atherosclerosis* 23(3): 451-476, May/June 1976.
- (45) TACHMES, L., FERNANDEZ, R.J., SACKNER, M.A. Hemodynamic effects of smoking cigarettea of high and low nicotine content. Chest 74(3): 243-246, September 1978.
- (46) U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION, AND WELFARE. Smoking and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, Office on Smoking and Health, DHEW Publication No. (PHS) 79-50066, 1979, 1136 pp.
- (47) VOGT, T.M., SELVIN, S., HULLEY, S.B. Comparison of biochemical and questionnaire estimates of tobacco exposure. *Preventive Medicine* 8(1): 23-33, January 1979.
- (48) VOGT, T.M., SELVIN, S., WIDDOWSON, G., HULLN, S.B. Expired air carbon monoxide and serum thiocyanate as objective measures of cigarette exposure. *A merican Journal of Public Health* 67(6): 545-549, June 1977.
- (49) WALD, N., HOWARD, S. Smoking, carbon monoxide and arterial disease. Annals of Occupational Hygiene 18(1): 1-14, 1975.
- (50) WALD, N., HOWARD, S., SMITH, P.G., KJELDSEN, K. Association between atherosclerotic diseases and carboxyhemoglobin levels in tobacco smokers. *British Medical Journal* 1(5856): 761-765, March 31, 1973.
- (51) WALD, N., IDLE, M., BOREHAM, J., BAILEY, A. Inhaling habits among smokers of different types of cigarettes. *Thorax* 35(12): 925-928, December 1980
- (52) WALD, N., IDLE, M., SMITH, P.G., BAILEY, A. Carboxyhaemoglobin levels in smokers of filter and plain cigarettes. *Lancet* 1(8003): 110-112, January 15, 1977.
- (53) WALD, NJ. Carbon monoxide as an aetiological agent in arterial disease—Some human evidence. In: Wynder, E.L., Hoffmann, D., Gori, G.B. (Editors). Proceedings of the Third World Conference on Smoking and Health, New York, June 2-5, 1975. Volume I. Modifying the Risk for the Smoker. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76-1221, 1976, pp. 349-361.
- (54) WALD, NJ. Mortality from lung cancer and coronary-heart in relation to changes in smoking habits. *Lancet* 1(7951): 136-138, January 17, 1976.
- (55) WHEREAT, A.F. Is atherosclerosis a disorder of intramitochondrial respiration? Annals of Internal Medicine 73: 125-127, 1970.